ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Spartanburg County

Honorable Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

GABRIEL JON RIOS,

RECEIVED

JAN 16 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2017-001549

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

1.

Whether trial counsel's failure to use cell phone records to substantiate petitioner's alibi constitutes ineffective assistance under the Sixth Amendment?

2.

Whether trial counsel's failure to impeach the victim's claim that she recognized appellant as the intruder "immediately" with the 911 call, made by her husband with the victim's voice audible in the background, on which the 911 operator asks, "Who is he? Do you know who he was?" and the husband replied, "Don't know," constitutes ineffective assistance under the Sixth Amendment?

3.

Whether trial counsel's failure to object to the solicitor's burden-shifting closing argument that appellant had "over two and a half years, since this incident happened, to come up with this story and that is all this is just a story. No one said they were with him that morning, Nobody, nobody that testified for him accounted for his whereabouts. Nobody," constitutes ineffective assistance under the Sixth Amendment?

STATEMENT

On November 24, 2010, petitioner Gabriel Jon Rios was indicted by a Spartanburg County grand jury for armed robbery, a weapons charge, grand larceny, kidnapping, first-degree assault and battery, and first degree burglary. App. 561 – 570. On February 26, 2013, petitioner was tried before the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh and a jury. App. 1. Timi Poulos and Russell Ghent represented the State. App. 1. Matthew Shealy represented petitioner. App. 1. Petitioner was convicted and sentenced to a total of forty-five years' imprisonment. App. 376, ll. 11 – 22. The Court of Appeals affirmed petitioner's convictions. State v. Rios, Op. No. 2015-UP-135 (S.C. Ct. App. Mar. 11, 2015).

On June 3, 2015, petitioner filed a PCR application. App. 426. On January 30, 2017, a hearing was held before the Honorable Edward W. Miller. App. 440. Susannah C. Ross represented petitioner. App. 440. Caitlin B. Hastings represented the State. App. 440. Judge Miller denied petitioner's application in an amended order after a timely Rule 59(e) Motion. App. 544. This petition follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

Trial counsel's failure to use cell phone records to substantiate petitioner's alibi constitutes ineffective assistance under the Sixth Amendment.

Introduction

Petitioner's defense to this home invasion was alibi. App. 288, l. 6 – 292, l. 6. At trial, the jury heard the victim testify that she “[i]mmediately” recognized petitioner as her attacker because he worked for her husband's construction company. App. 108, ll. 4 – 24. The jury also heard the solicitor discredit petitioner's wife's testimony that she received a call from him on a landline sixteen minutes away from the crime scene near the time of the break-in. App. 322, ll. 8 – 15. The solicitor called petitioner's phone call alibi “just a story.” App. 322, ll. 8 – 15.

The jury did **not** see phone records substantiating petitioner's alibi. App. 460, ll. 6 – 20. App. 485 – 487. The jury did not hear a 911 call that would have discredited the victim's claim that she “immediately” recognized petitioner during the attack. (Applicant's Ex. 1). Nor did trial counsel object to the solicitor's burden-shifting closing about petitioner's alibi. App. 322, l. 24 – 323, l. 3. Trial counsel's failure to ensure the jury heard this crucial evidence undermines confidence in this verdict and creates a reasonable probability that the outcome of petitioner's trial would have been different. See Tappeiner v. State, 416 S.C. 239, 249, 785 S.E.2d 471, 476 (2016) (reciting burden of proof in a PCR case).

Factual and Procedural Background

The Trial and Appeal

The victim in this case, Gail Holt, claimed that on the morning of August 14, 2010, a man broke into her house, held “a sharp object” to her neck, and demanded she open a safe. App. 106, l. 9 – 111, l. 2. She did not know the combination. App. 110, ll. 17 – 23. The man then taped her hands behind her back, stole her car, and left. App. 111, l. 9 – 114, l. 7. Ms. Holt freed her hands of the tape in “a few minutes” and called her husband, Phil Holt. App. 114, ll. 4 – 16. Mr. Holt called the police. App. 114, ll. 15 – 16. App. 149, ll. 16 – 23.

Mr. Holt testified that petitioner worked “off and on” for his foam insulation business. App. 149, l. 24 – 150, l. 11. Petitioner helped Mr. Holt install the safe to which the intruder led Ms. Holt. App. 150, l. 12 – 151, l. 4. After his wife broke free and called him, Mr. Holt called the police, told them about the break-in, and “suggested they get there quickly, too.” App. 149, ll. 16 – 23. Mr. Holt then hung up and called his wife. App. 149, ll. 16 – 23. Mr. Holt beat the police to his house. App. 129, l. 25 – 130, l. 5. Ms. Holt claimed at trial that she “immediately” recognized petitioner during the attack. App. 108, ll. 4 – 24.

The timing of the break-in was approximately 7:30 AM. App. 312, l. 11 – 314, l. 11. Ms. Holt woke up “a little bit before 7:30.” App. 107, ll. 4 – 5. She had been awake “for a little bit” when she heard glass break. App. 107, ll. 18 – 23. A neighbor, Marie Ollinger, took her routine morning walk at 7:30 that morning and noticed a man she had not seen before walking in the neighborhood towards the Holts’ house. App. 163, ll. 3 – 24. App. 164, l. 20 – 165, l. 4. She lived “about seven houses away” from the Holts. App. 162, ll. 17 – 23. She described the person as an “unremarkable” black man and made no in-court identification of petitioner. App. 164, ll. 1 – 5.

Contrary to the vast majority of criminal trials, the State did not call the first officer to respond to the scene. App. 264, ll. 9 – 19. Petitioner called the officer, David Welch. App. 264, ll. 9 – 19. Trial counsel failed to ask Officer Welch what time he arrived. App. 264, l. 6 – 266, l. 17. Officer Welch testified that Mr. and Ms. Holt failed to give him petitioner’s name when he arrived. App. 264, l. 6 – 266, l. 17.

The next defense witness was Mrs. Estar Byrd. App. 267, l. 20 – 269, l. 2. Mrs. Byrd testified that she did not “really” know petitioner, but let him use her landline phone from time to time. App. 267, l. 20 – 269, l. 2. She testified her phone number was 864-____-2858. App. 267, l. 20 – 269, l. 2. She told the jury she had no memory of the date of the crime, August 14, 2010. App. 269, ll. 1 – 2. On cross-examination, she told the solicitor, “I can’t honestly speak on that,” when asked if she knew for sure whether petitioner used her phone that day. App. 269, ll. 19 – 25.

Petitioner’s wife then testified that she received a telephone call from her husband on Mrs. Byrd’s land line the morning of the crime at 7:25 AM. App. 271, l. 10 – 277, l. 5. Trial counsel then attempted to use the phone records at issue in this PCR. App. 271, l. 10 – 277, l. 5. The State strenuously objected, arguing the records had not been authenticated. App. 271, l. 10 – 277, l. 5. During this argument, the court ruled trial counsel could use the records to refresh recollection, but they could not be admitted unless they were properly authenticated. App. 271, l. 10 – 277, l. 5. Trial counsel told the court, “I have no plans on entering it into evidence.” App. 275, ll. 10 – 11.

The defense’s last witness was trial counsel’s investigator, Curtis Jones. App. 280, l. 1 – 283, l. 7. Jones drove the route from Mrs. Byrd’s house to the Holts’ house. App. 280, l. 1 – 283, l. 7. The distance was 5.2 miles and took sixteen minutes. App. 280, l. 1 – 283, l. 7.

Trial counsel asked the court to instruct the jury on alibi, but Judge McIntosh refused. App. 288, l. 6 – 292, l. 5. The court reasoned that the evidence only showed a partial alibi, which did not warrant giving the charge. App. 288, l. 6 – 292, l. 5. However, Judge McIntosh allowed petitioner to argue the defense of alibi to the jury. App. 288, l. 6 – 292, l. 5. Trial counsel argued that petitioner could not have committed the crime because testimony (not phone records) showed petitioner was at Mrs. Byrd’s house which was too far away for him to have committed the crime during the time window alleged by the State’s witnesses. App. 312, l. 11 – 314, l. 11.

During its closing argument, the State attacked petitioner’s alibi defense with great effect. App. 322, l. 1 – 323, l. 3. The solicitor addressed Ms. Byrd’s testimony about the phone: “But she couldn’t say for sure if she let him borrow it that morning or not. She told you she couldn’t even say that she saw him that morning.” App. 322, ll. 3 – 7. The solicitor then attacked petitioner’s wife, arguing:

. . . she thinks that she got a phone call from her husband around 7:20 something from a number that she believes was Ms. Byrd’s number. She wasn’t with him. She didn’t even see him that morning, and let’s not forget that yeah, she was convicted in 2008 of giving false information to police, for lying to police. So, you, you guys take that for what it’s worth.

App. 322, ll. 8 – 15. Again, entering the phone records would have taken these powerful arguments away from the solicitor that the phone calls were a fiction.

On direct appeal, petitioner raised the failure to charge alibi. App. 384. The State argued petitioner never established a complete alibi. App. 398. In its brief to the Court of Appeals, the State argued:

Notably, the cell phone record was never admitted into evidence. Furthermore, there is no other evidence presented by the defense which would warrant a charge on the defense of alibi—no testimony, no one mentioned Rios

was in their presence during the commission of the crime. **The entire closing argument on the alibi defense is a hypothetical theory based on nothing but the alleged phone call.**

App. 407, n.2 (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals affirmed the failure to give an alibi charge.

The PCR Hearing

Petitioner entered the vital phone records into evidence at the PCR hearing. App. 460, ll. 6 – 20. App. 485 – 487. The phone records show calls between petitioner’s wife and Mrs. Byrd’s landline at 7:16 and 7:22 AM. App. 485 – 487. Petitioner testified at PCR that trial counsel failed to enter the phone records into evidence because he neglected to subpoena a phone company representative to authenticate the records. App. 459, ll. 11 – 18. The State did not object when petitioner entered the records into evidence. App. 460, ll. 6 – 20.

Trial counsel inexplicably testified that calling a phone company witness to authenticate the records would also have required petitioner to testify—even though the records were those of his wife (who did testify). App. 472, ll. 9 – 24. He also claimed the jury would have “tuned that out.” App. 472, ll. 9 – 24. He said his witnesses adequately covered the substance of the records and he “suggested their existence by kind of sneaky-peek.” App. 472, ll. 9 – 24.

The PCR court credited trial counsel with a strategic reason for not admitting the phone records. App. 553. The court found trial counsel’s strategy to be reasonable because “he did not believe that Ms. Boyd’s phone records would be especially helpful either because it is unclear from the records who placed a call. They only indicate that a call was made.” App. 553. The court also found petitioner did not satisfy the prejudice prong of Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). App. 553-554.

Discussion

The PCR court erred in crediting trial counsel with a reasonable strategy and in finding no prejudice. Unlike a legitimate trial strategy where counsel must make a choice between defenses, the phone records here provided additional support for the defense that counsel actually presented. Introducing the phone records would have been completely in line with the strategy used by counsel—presentation of alibi. Presenting the phone records would have prevented the State from making the powerful argument that the phone calls were a recent invention. The Attorney General, in its brief in the direct appeal, specifically pointed out trial counsel’s failure to introduce the records during the trial.

Trial counsel’s failure to introduce the phone records is similar to the deficiencies in Putnam v. State, 417 S.C. 252, 789 S.E.2d 594 (Ct. App. 2016) and Martinez v. State, 304 S.C. 39, 403 S.E.2d 113 (1991). In Putnam, trial counsel performed deficiently when he failed to serve subpoenas on witnesses to secure their attendance at trial. Putnam at 264-66, 789 S.E.2d at 600-01. Like Putnam, trial counsel here failed to subpoena the necessary witness to authenticate and introduce the phone records.

Even more like petitioner’s case is Martinez. Martinez was a rape case and the victim reported the crime immediately afterwards, somewhere between 2:00 and 2:15 AM. Martinez at 40, 403 S.E.2d at 113. The police found a wallet containing the defendant’s driver’s license at the victim’s home. Id. at 40, 403 S.E.2d at 113. The defendant presented evidence he reported the wallet stolen at a lounge between 12:00 AM and 1:00 AM. Id. at 40-41, 403 S.E.2d at 113. The defendant testified he left the lounge at 1:45 AM. Id.

Trial counsel neglected to call a witness who would have corroborated the defendant's evidence that he left the lounge "fifteen minutes prior to the conclusion of the rape." Id. at 41, 403 S.E.2d at 113-14. This Court found both deficient performance and prejudice under Strickland and reversed. Id. The witness did not provide the defendant in Martinez with a complete alibi, but corroborated the defendant's testimony that his presence elsewhere would have made it difficult for him to commit the crime. Just like in Martinez, the phone records do not provide a complete alibi, but they do prove that the phone calls from Mrs. Byrd's landline to petitioner's wife's phone were not a complete invention. The records demonstrate that petitioner was sixteen minutes away, making his commission of the crime difficult. Under Martinez, trial counsel was deficient and failing to enter the records made petitioner's defense seem like an invention, especially in the modern age when juries are certainly aware of the existence of phone records that can substantiate such claims.

If trial counsel thought the records were valuable enough to give the jury a "sneaky-peek" at them, then they were valuable enough to enter into evidence. Like Putnam and Martinez, the failure to enter these records was through negligence, not part of any reasonable trial strategy. See also Walker v. State, 407 S.C. 400, 756 S.E.2d 144 (2014) (reversing in PCR because trial counsel failed to present alibi defense). Petitioner was prejudiced because the State could claim his defense was entirely fiction, especially given his wife's conviction of a crime of dishonesty. This Court should grant certiorari and reverse.

Trial counsel's failure to impeach the victim's claim that she recognized petitioner as the intruder "immediately" with the 911 call, made by her husband with the victim's voice audible in the background, on which the 911 operator asks, "Who is he? Do you know who he was?" and the husband replied, "Don't know," constitutes ineffective assistance under the Sixth Amendment.

Unlike the vast majority of criminal trials, the solicitors in this case did not introduce the 911 call into evidence. Undoubtedly the reason the solicitors did not use the 911 call was because it undercut their key piece of evidence—Ms. Holt's claim that she "immediately" recognized petitioner during the attack. App. 108, ll. 4 – 24. Had the jury heard the 911 call, this key claim would have been disproved and the result of this trial would have been different.

Petitioner introduced the recording of the 911 call at the PCR hearing. App. 451, l. 7 – 452, l. 11. App. 460, ll. 6 – 20. Applicant's Ex. 1. Mr. Holt is the primary speaker on the 911 call recording, but Ms. Holt can be heard in the background. Applicant's Ex. 1. The dispatcher asks, "**Who is he? Do you know who he was?**" Applicant's Ex. 1 (emphasis added). Mr. Holt responds, "**Don't know.**" Applicant's Ex. 1 (emphasis added).

Trial counsel testified he did not admit the 911 call "because I had Investigator Welch, ultimately." App. 471, l. 11 – 472, l. 1. He thought the jury hearing from a police officer who only testified that Ms. Holt did not initially identify petitioner was "a little more powerful" than hearing from Mr. Holt's own mouth that they did not know the intruder's identity. App. 471, l. 11 – 472, l. 1. Without identifying any specific "risks," the PCR court credited trial counsel with a reasonable strategic decision because "he felt that introducing the 911 tape posed more risks

than benefits, and he felt he could introduce the helpful information through other evidence.” App. 553.

The purported trial strategy, much like the phone records, is illogical because the 911 call substantiated a strategic decision trial counsel actually made. Trial counsel used Officer Welch to show that Ms. Holt did not immediately identify petitioner as she powerfully claimed during her testimony, which meant that he knew he needed to discredit her identification. Omitting recorded evidence from Mr. Holt’s own mouth that would also have impeached the State’s key witnesses was, like in Issue 1, important evidence that supported trial counsel’s chosen strategy. Nothing in the 911 call is inflammatory and was cumulative to the Mr. and Ms. Holt’s testimony, except for the critical impeachment evidence. Failing to enter this evidence constituted deficient performance. See Rutland v. State, 415 S.C. 570, 785 S.E.2d 350 (2016) (reversing in PCR because of trial counsel’s failure to impeach a witness with a prior inconsistent statement).

The failure to impeach a witness is deficient performance that prejudices a defendant. Driscoll v. Delo, 71 F.3d 701, 710-11 (8th Cir. 1995); Berryman v. Morton, 100 F.3d 1089, 1097 (trial counsel failed to impeach with inconsistent eyewitness identifications). In Driscoll, defense counsel’s failure to impeach an eyewitness with prior inconsistent statements was held prejudicial. Id. The defendant was sentenced to death for stabbing a prison guard. Trial counsel failed to impeach a prosecution witness who claimed at trial that the defendant confessed to the murder with a prior statement omitting the confession. Id. at 709-12. The centrality of the witness’s testimony was an important factor in the court’s consideration. Id.

Here, Ms. Holt’s “immediate” identification was the key fact for the prosecution and the failure to impeach her testimony could not have been more prejudicial. See also Peebles v. State, 958 S.W.2d 533, 536-37 (Ark. 1998) (holding that defendant was prejudiced by trial counsel’s

failure to impeach a witness with a prior denial that a crime occurred); Delarosa v. State, 24 So.3d 741, 741-42 (Fla. Ct. App. 2009) (remanding case for prejudice inquiry because of trial counsel's failure to impeach police officer with prior statement claiming he was attacked by three Mexicans when same officer testified at trial he was only attacked by defendant).

The solicitors' decision to omit the 911 call from their case-in-chief further demonstrates its value for the defense. The State routinely admits 911 calls into evidence. The State declined to do so in this case because it would have discredited their own witness. Trial counsel's failure prejudiced petitioner under the Sixth Amendment and this Court should grant certiorari and reverse.

Trial counsel's failure to object to the solicitor's burden-shifting closing argument that petitioner had "over two and a half years, since this incident happened, to come up with this story and that is all this is is just a story. No one said they were with him that morning. Nobody, nobody that testified for him accounted for his whereabouts. Nobody," constitutes ineffective assistance under the Sixth Amendment.

Trial counsel admitted at the PCR hearing that he should have objected to the solicitor's burden-shifting closing argument. App. 474, ll. 9 – 18. Trial counsel conceded, "It sounded like it was burden shifting. I missed that." App. 474, ll. 9 – 18.

The solicitor made his burden-shifting argument during his attack on petitioner's alibi defense. App. 322, l. 1 – 323, l. 3. The solicitor told the jury, "over two and a half years, since this incident happened, to come up with this story and that is all this is is just a story. No one said they were with him that morning, Nobody, nobody that testified for him accounted for his whereabouts. Nobody." App. 322, l. 1 – 323, l. 3.

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