RECEIVED

JUL 02 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Spartanburg County  
The Honorable Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2017-001549

Gabriel Jon Rios,

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

LINDSEY A. MCCALLISTER  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar #79054

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

Petitioner's defense to this crime was alibi. PWC p. 3; App. pp. 288-91. To this end, Counsel called witnesses at trial to establish Petitioner made a phone call to his wife from a house on Florida Avenue around 7:25 a.m. on the morning of the crime. Counsel's investigator testified the victim's home was approximately 5.2 miles away, which equated to a sixteen minute drive. In his closing argument, Counsel argued Petitioner had an alibi for the morning of the crime. Specifically, he stated:

We presented Ms. Byrd who testified that she had a landline phone, what her phone number was. It's [xxx-xxxx]. And Mrs. Rios testified that she got this phone call around 7:22. I don't believe that she testified to the duration of that call. But she did speak with her husband, she testified to, and she, she received that phone call from that number, [xxx-2858], that that happened at 7:22. . . .

Mr. Jones testified that it takes about 16 minutes from Florida Avenue to get over to Hillbrook, and that that drive was – it was in a car and it was the fastest way he could figure out, and the State had the opportunity to call a witness to reply to that and they didn't. So, that's – you just have to go with that. That's the only evidence in the record as to the distance between the one, the two points. . . .

And if this happened about 7:30, then even if he caught a ride, he couldn't get over there because 16 minutes, plus 22, is 7:38. So, if he called her, immediately hung up, gotten into the car, driven over there, all of that without anytime in-between, he certainly couldn't have done it now.

App. pp. 260-62. However, Counsel did not introduce into evidence Petitioner's

wife's phone records, which show a four-minute phone call between the wife and Ms. Byrd's number at 7:10 a.m. and a one-minute phone call at 7:22 a.m. App. pp. 481-82. Petitioner alleges these records "substantiate Petitioner's alibi" and create a reasonable probability the outcome of trial would have been different had Counsel introduced them. PWC p. 3.

These records, however, do not solve the problem with Petitioner's defense – he has no alibi for the entire time period in which the crime was committed; thus, he has no alibi at all. As this Court explained in State v. Robbins:

Alibi means elsewhere, and the charge should be given when the accused submits that he could not have performed the criminal act because he was in another place at the time of its commission. In other words, by an alibi the accused attempts to prove that he was at a place so distant that his participation in the crime was impossible. To be successful, *his alibi must cover the entire time when his presence was required for accomplishment of the crime*. To establish an alibi, the accused must show that he was at another specified place at the time the crime was committed, thus making it impossible for him to have been at the scene of the crime. . . . [S]ince an alibi derives its potency as a defense from the fact that it *involves the physical impossibility of the accused's guilt*, a purported alibi which leaves it possible for the accused to be the guilty person is no alibi at all.

275 S.C. 373, 375, 271 S.E.2d 319, 320 (1980) (emphasis added).

The timeline established by the State at trial showed the robbery occurred sometime between approximately 7:30 a.m. and 8:30 a.m. At trial, the victim testified she woke up shortly before 7:30 a.m. and had been awake for "a little while" when she heard the sound of glass breaking somewhere in the house. App. p. 107, 116. When she went to investigate, she encountered Petitioner in the hallway of her home. App. pp. 107-08. Specifically, the victim testified this occurred sometime between 7:30 and 8:00 a.m. App. p. 116. The man then tied her up and rummaged through several rooms in the house, and she waited several minutes after he left before freeing herself and calling her husband. App. pp. 111-14, 116.

At the evidentiary hearing, Counsel pointed out the records did not establish a complete alibi. App. p. 472. Counsel also testified he made a conscious decision not to admit the phone records because “a record doesn’t show who made the phone call. The real, live person can testify that, yeah, it was [Petitioner] using this phone.” App. p. 477. Counsel specifically testified the decision not to subpoena someone to authenticate the phone records was a strategic decision, and therefore, Counsel was not deficient.

There is a strong presumption that counsel’s decisions are based on tactical strategy rather than neglect. Yarborough v. Gentry, 540 U.S. 1, 8 (2003) (quoting Massaro v. United States, 538 U.S. 500 (2003)). “Accordingly, when counsel articulates a valid reason for employing a certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel.” Smith v. State, 386 S.C. 562, 567, 689 S.E.2d 629, 632 (2010) (citing Caprood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 110, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000)). See also Stokes v. State, 308 S.C. 546, 419 S.E.2d 778 (1992) (holding where counsel articulates valid reasons for employing certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel); Ingle v. State, 348 S.C. 467, 470, 560 S.E.2d 401, 402 (2002) (holding counsel may avoid a finding of ineffectiveness if he articulates a valid reason for using a certain strategy). “Courts must be wary of second guessing counsel’s trial tactics; and where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing such strategy, such conduct is not ineffective assistance of counsel.” Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 417 S.E.2d 529 (1992) (citing Goodson v. United States, 564 F.2d 1071 (4th Cir. 1977)). Trial counsel’s strategy is reviewed under “an objective standard of reasonableness.” Magazine v. State, 361 S.C. 610, 617, 606 S.E.2d 761, 764 (2004).

Because Counsel articulated a valid strategy for using Petitioner’s wife to establish both that a phone call was made around 7:25 a.m. and it was Petitioner who made the call, the PCR

court correctly found Counsel was not deficient for choosing not to admit the records. App. p. 553. Petitioner takes issue with this finding and seems to argue this was an unreasonable strategic decision because Petitioner's wife was not credible, as she had a previous conviction for giving false information to law enforcement. PWC p. 7; App. p. 277. Petitioner also characterizes Counsel's explanation that any benefit from introducing the phone records would have been outweighed by requiring Petitioner to testify as "inexplicable." PWC pp. 7-8. However, Counsel could not call *only* a representative from the phone company because he needed to establish it was Petitioner who made the call. Petitioner cannot have it both ways – either Petitioner or his wife would have had to testify, and both had credibility issues.<sup>2</sup> Counsel's decision to elicit both pieces of information (i.e. the fact that a phone call occurred and who made it) from the same witness is not unreasonable.

Further, as Counsel noted, even if these records had been introduced at trial, the most they do is establish Petitioner was not at the victim's home between 7:23 a.m. and 7:39 a.m., which is not a complete alibi. In his ruling denying Counsel's request to charge alibi, Judge McIntosh specifically pointed out this issue. He stated, "Now, even in the light most favorable to [Petitioner], if you look at the 7:22 or 7:24 timeframe, there's still time for him to have gotten from the Florida [Avenue] address to the Perrin Street address, and therefore, there's insufficient evidence in the record for alibi because the entire time period in which the crime occurred. . . at least based on the evidence in the record, is not covered by the other evidence presented in this matter." Nothing presented at the PCR hearing changes this analysis; the phone records do not

---

<sup>2</sup> Counsel testified he did not feel it was in Petitioner's best interest to testify because "the way [Petitioner] said all this happened or the motivations for it being made up were going to be difficult for us, quite frankly." App. pp. 478-79. In any event, both Petitioner and Counsel agreed it was ultimately Petitioner's decision not to testify. App. pp. 466-67, 479.

expand the amount of time covered by Petitioner's "alibi," and he did not present the testimony of any witness who could account for his whereabouts after 7:39 a.m.<sup>3</sup>

Therefore, the PCR court correctly found Petitioner cannot establish any prejudice as a result of Counsel's decision not to introduce the phone records. App. pp. 553-54. The trial judge's analysis as to the applicability of the alibi charge is unchanged by the records, so logically, the outcome of Petitioner's direct appeal would also be no different. See, e.g., McHam, 404 S.C. at 475–76, 746 S.E.2d at 47 ("Since the Fourth Amendment issue was not considered on direct appeal because it was unpreserved, an examination of the merits of the issue is appropriate in analyzing the prejudice prong in McHam's PCR claim.") (citing Sikes v. State, 323 S.C. 28, 30, 448 S.E.2d 560, 562 (1994) ("When the defendant claims that counsel's failure to articulate a Fourth Amendment claim was ineffective assistance, [the] defendant must show that such claim is **meritorious** and that the verdict would have been different absent the evidence that should have been excluded." (emphasis in McHam))).

Because Counsel was not deficient and Petitioner suffered no prejudice from Counsel's decision not to admit the phone records, the Petition should be denied and dismissed as to this issue.

**II. There is probative evidence in the record to support the PCR court's finding Counsel was not deficient because he articulated a valid trial strategy for not introducing the 911 tape as impeachment evidence where the victim's husband, not victim, called 911, and where Counsel impeached the victim's testimony through another witness.**

Petitioner contends Counsel was deficient and Petitioner was prejudiced by Counsel's decision not to introduce the 911 tape at trial, because on the tape, the 911 operator immediately

---

<sup>3</sup> Other than Petitioner's own testimony, he offered only the testimony of his daughter, who said she talked to her father on the day in question at 7:02 a.m. – well before the window of time at issue in the case. App. p. 468.

asks Mr. Holt, the caller, if he knew who the intruder was, and Mr. Holt replies, “Don’t know.” PWC p. 10. Petitioner contends this statement would have impeached Mrs. Holt’s testimony at trial that she recognized Petitioner “immediately.” PWC p. 10.

Counsel testified he had three reasons for not introducing the tape. First, because it was Mr. Holt’s statement, and Mr. Holt was not present during the robbery, which created problems with admissibility, as he had no personal knowledge of the identity of the perpetrator. App. pp. 471-72. Second, Counsel testified there were a number of statements made by Mr. Holt during the conversation with the 911 operator which Counsel felt “were bad” and “suggested that parts of his story were true.” App. p. 471. Third, Counsel testified he introduced the same information – that neither Mr. or Ms. Holt immediately identified Petitioner to law enforcement – in through his own witness, the first responding officer, and that testimony was “a little more powerful than Mr. Holt. . . .” App. p. 471. Accordingly, the PCR Court correctly found Counsel was not deficient because he articulated valid trial strategies for choosing not to introduce the tape. App. p. 555-56.

First, Mr. Holt’s statement is not impeachment evidence against Ms. Holt. The plain language of Rule 801 contemplates the prior statement being made by the testifying witness, i.e. the declarant. South Carolina Rules of Evidence, Rule 801(c) (“‘Hearsay’ is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted.”); Rule 801(d)(1)(A) (“A statement is not hearsay if the declarant testifies at the trial or hearing and is subject to cross-examination concerning the statement, and the statement is inconsistent with the declarant’s testimony.”) See also State v. Caulder, 287 S.C. 507, 513, 339 S.E.2d 876, 880 (Ct. App. 1986) (“A prior inconsistent statement is admissible as substantive evidence when the declarant testifies at trial and is subject

to cross-examination.”). Petitioner implies that because Ms. Holt can be heard in the background during portions of the tape, the statement can be used against her.<sup>4</sup> PWC p. 10. However, Petitioner does not cite any case law for the proposition that one witness’s statement can be used to impeach another, and in fact, the only cases he cites in support of this argument are instances where trial counsel failed to use a witness’s own statement against him. PWC pp. 11-12.

At most, the 911 tape could have been used to impeach Mr. Holt’s testimony only.<sup>5</sup> However, as Counsel pointed out at the PCR hearing, other aspects of the Holts’ testimony are confirmed by the tape – for example, that the intruder threw a rock through the carport window and came down the hall looking for money. App. pp. 112, 193-94. Most importantly, Mr. Holt and the 911 operator discuss that the time frame for the robbery, and Mr. Holt says their best estimate is “eight o’clock.” This statement pushing the crime closer to 8:00 a.m. rather than 7:30 a.m. undermines Petitioner’s already weak “alibi” defense, and Counsel could reasonably choose not to introduce that statement.

Finally, Counsel was able to impeach Mrs. Holt’s claim she recognized Petitioner “immediately” by calling the first officer to arrive at the scene to testify about his interaction with the Holts. App. pp. 264-66. That officer, Welch, testified he spoke to Mr. Holt first who “did not know the suspect at that time” and described him as “an unknown suspect,” which is the exact same statement Petitioner claims makes the 911 call so important. App. p. 264. Welch

---

<sup>4</sup> Notably, Mrs. Holt is not heard at the beginning of the tape, when the 911 operator asks Mr. Holt if he knows who the intruder was.

<sup>5</sup> In addition, in order for Counsel to be permitted to introduce the 911 tape for impeachment, Mr. Holt first would have to be asked about his statements on the tape and deny making them. Rule 613(b), SCRE. If Mr. Holt agreed he made the prior statement, the 911 tape would not be admissible anyway. *Id.* Other than Mrs. Holt’s statement that she recognized Petitioner right away (but purposely did not call him by his name), nothing in either Mr. or Mrs. Holt’s testimony suggested they identified Petitioner by name until sometime after law enforcement arrived at the house. App. pp. 106-61.

testified he then spoke with Mrs. Holt who initially gave him only a physical description of the robber, but did not give a name. App. pp. 265-66. Welch also impeached Mrs. Holt's testimony that the intruder already knew the location of the safe in the home, testifying instead that Mrs. Holt reported he asked her where the safe was. App. pp. 137, 265.

As noted above, "judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689. "Strickland requires that trial counsel must be given leeway to make reasonable strategic decisions. No particular set of detailed rules for counsel's conduct can satisfactorily take account of the variety of circumstances faced by defense counsel or the range of legitimate decisions regarding how best to represent a criminal defendant." Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 417 S.E.2d 529 (1992) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691). Where counsel articulates a valid strategic reason for his action or inaction, counsel's performance should not be found ineffective. Roseboro v. State, 317 S.C. 292, 454 S.E.2d 312 (1996). See also Stokes v. State, 308 S.C. 546, 419 S.E.2d 778 (1992) (holding where counsel articulates valid reasons for employing certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel); Ingle v. State, 348 S.C. 467, 470, 560 S.E.2d 401, 402 (2002) (holding counsel may avoid a finding of ineffectiveness if he articulates a valid reason for using a certain strategy).

Counsel offered myriad reasons why he chose not to introduce the 911 tape, all of which are valid trial strategy considerations supported by the record. Accordingly, the PCR court correctly found Counsel was not deficient, and this Court should deny the petition as to this issue.

III. **There is probative evidence in the record to support the PCR court's finding Petitioner was not prejudiced by the solicitor's allegedly burden-shifting comments in closing because the solicitor is entitled to comment on the evidence introduced by the defense, and because, in any event, the comments were not so egregious as to render the trial fundamentally unfair.**

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